Case #: 1032277

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/3/2024 1:09 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/3/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. _____

NO. 56625-7-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ROBBRIE THOMPSON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable James Orlando, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, Washington 98121 206-623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is review appropriate to clarify the standard of review for GR 37 challenges and because the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with precedent from this Court and the Court of Appeals?
- 2. Is review appropriate because whether defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to inflammatory and irrelevant evidence concerning Thompson's arrest is a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions?
- 3. Is review appropriate because whether the exclusion of defense evidence violated Thompson's right to present a

defense is a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions?

4. Is review appropriate because whether the prosecutor committed misconduct by invoking witnesses' races and ethnicities, and whether defense counsel was ineffective in failing to object, are significant questions of law under the state and federal constitutions?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Thompson was 15 years old when he met Franklin Thou. 2RP 844, 1934-35; 3RP 58, 93. On April 27, 2019, Thou picked up Thompson from his house. 2RP 1927-28, 1936-37, 1941. Thou drove a gold-colored Nissan Sentra. 2RP 782-83; 3RP 75-77, 99-102, 114. Thou told Thompson he wanted help robbing a store and showed him a picture of a convenience store. 2RP 1937-40, 2001. Thompson was indecisive and Thou drove around while trying to convince him. 2RP 1944, 1995.

Surveillance video near the Handy Corner Food Store in Puyallup showed the Sentra traveling back forth. 2RP 4RP 487-

89, 493-96, 499-500; 4RP 308-10. The person driving was wearing a blue sweatshirt. 2RP 768, 771; 3RP 74; 4RP 11-12, 30-33, 501.

Eventually Thompson agreed. 2RP 1941-42, 1945, 1989-91, 1995-96, 2015. Thou recorded a Snapchat video showing him and Thompson inside the car holding guns. 2RP 786-87, 789, 792, 809-12, 1388-89, 1942-44. The video showed Thou in the driver's seat and Thompson in the front passenger seat. 2RP 791-92, 794, 796, 823-25. Thompson had a Glock .357 and Thou a Taurus .380. 2RP 1759-60, 1943.

The men were carrying the same guns when they entered the store. 2RP 1945-47, 1991. Thou entered first. 2RP 1947, 2075. Thompson's gun was not loaded, and the clip fell out when he pulled the gun from his pocket. 2RP 1947-49, 2075. Thompson did not see anyone else in the store and did not point his gun at anyone. 2RP 1949, 2075-76.

Thompson told Thou they should leave and headed for the door. 2RP 1949-51. Thou remained inside the store.

Thompson drove away before realizing he did not know where he was, so he returned to the store. 2RP 1951-52.

When Andrew Mantonya arrived at the store, he saw a black man wearing a blue sweatshirt and mask walk out. 2RP 997-98, 1275-76; 4RP 80, 82, 110, 130, 132. The man walked to the driver's side of the Nissan but did not enter the car. 2RP 997, 1277; 4RP 80, 83, 130, 143-44.

Mantonya entered the store and saw the owner, Joseph Nam, with a "deer in the headlights look" and a black man with his hand in the cash register. 2RP 998; 4RP 83-86, 90, 123, 133. The man was wearing a dark hooded sweatshirt and sweatpants. 2RP 998, 1276; 4RP 85-87, 110. Mantonya yelled at the man, but Nam responded that the man had a gun. 4RP 90-91. The man pulled a gun from his sweatshirt, chambered a round, and pointed it at Mantonya. 4RP 91-93, 119-20, 122, 133, 139, 143. Mantonya put his hands up and the man left the store. 4RP 94. Mantonya watched the man entered the passenger side of the Nissan. 4RP 135, 138, 143-44.

Nam's wife, Soon Ja Nam¹, was on the ground but Mantonya saw no blood. 4RP 94-95, 97-101, 109, 138. Mantonya never saw any guns fired and never saw any guns pointed at Nam. 4RP 109, 139, 147-48. Mantonya called 911 and noticed a shell casing on the ground. 4RP 102, 104, 107-11, 113, 141, 145.

Bradly Nielsen entered the store while Mantonya was on the phone with 911. 2RP 855-59, 893-94. He saw someone walk out of the store, but it did not appear the person was in a hurry. 2RP 855. Nielsen saw Soon Ja lying on the ground and believed something was wrong based on Nam's facial expressions and body language. 2RP 855-56, 860-64, 895-96, 900-03. He saw a shell casing on the floor. 2RP 863, 896-99. Nam recounted the men had come into the store with a gun and wanted money. 2RP 904-06, 990. Nam was going to give them money when Soon Ja ran into the back, and he heard a loud

¹ To avoid confusion, Joseph Nam is referred to as "Nam" and Soon Ja Nam as "Soon Ja".

sound. 2RP 905-06, 990. Three or four hundred dollars had been taken. 2RP 992.

Jose Trujillo also arrived at the store around this time. Two cars were parked outside. 2RP 1826-27, 1832. One of them was a tan colored sedan. 2RP 1839-41, 1897, 1900. He did not see anyone inside the car. 2RP 1912.

When he entered the store, Trujillo saw two black men. 2RP 1844-45. A man in a blue sweatshirt was loading a gun and Trujillo heard him cock it. 2RP 1835, 1851, 1873-74, 1877-79, 1889, 1892, 1903, 1906, 1914 1919. He did not see the man point the gun at anyone. 2RP 1910.

Trujillo panicked and left the store. 2RP 1828, 1833-35, 1871-74, 1877-79, 1889, 1892, 1903, 1906, 1910, 1914 1919. He saw a man in a black sweatshirt also exit the store and get into the driver's seat of the parked car. 2RP 1834-36, 1842, 1849, 1853-56, 1861, 1864, 1870, 1873, 1879, 1902. He did not see the man with a gun. 2RP 1857.

The man inside the car was jittery and looking back toward the store. 2RP 1859-60, 1863, 1879. Trujillo assumed the man had left the other man behind. 2RP 1848, 1880-81. The car drove away before Trujillo saw it return and saw the second man get into the passenger seat. 2RP 1848-51, 1881.

When Thompson returned to the store, Thou entered the passenger seat. 2RP 1952-53. Thou did not say what had happened inside the store. 2RP 1953. After parking the car near Thou's house, however, Thou told Thompson he shot Soon Ja. Thou then pulled out a stack of money and split it with Thompson. 2RP 1955-56.

A bullet wound was observed on Soon Ja's back when she was moved by first responders. 2RP 875-78, 880-81, 957-59, 987-88, 1031-32. Soon Ja died on the way to the hospital. 2RP 954-56, 1013-17, 1032-36, 1040.

An autopsy confirmed a bullet was in Soon Ja's chest. 2RP 1296-1300, 1303, 1309. The entrance wound was in the center of her back. 2RP 1304, 1306-07. The bullet severed the

spinal cord and caused the right lung to collapse, which led to internal bleeding. 2RP 1304-07, 1312-14, 1346, 1340.

The shell casing was recovered from the floor of the store. 2RP 884, 887, 986, 926-28, 963-64. Police also collected a Glock pistol magazine from the floor. 2RP 929-31. Subsequent DNA testing showed a mixture of at least five people. None of the DNA contributors could be identified. 4RP 340-43. No identifiable fingerprints were found inside the store. 2RP920, 924-25, 964-65.

Meanwhile, police issued a bulletin for the car seen at the store. 2RP 1053-54. A short time later, police received a 911 call about a car fitting the description in Federal Way. 2RP 1054-58, 1068-69; 4RP 60, 67, 311-13. Although not registered to Thou, police learned that he was stopped the previous month while driving the car. 2RP 1059-60. Thou also lived a few hundred feet from where the car was parked. 2RP 1060; 4RP 67-68, 72.

Surveillance video showed two men at the car on April 27. 2RP 1078-79. Video showed the car returning to the area of Thou's house shortly after 6:00 p.m. Thou left the car with a blue sweatshirt. 2RP 1563-64.

Two gun magazines were found in the car's center console. 2RP 1100, 1110, 1113. A glove and knitted cap were in the trunk. Cash was found underneath the dashboard. Glasses were found on the passenger side of the car. 2RP 1100-02, 1111, 1115-16. Two fingerprints matched Thou. 2RP 1107-08, 1143. None of Thompson's fingerprints were found inside the car. 2RP 1145.

Police went to Thou's house and contacted his family but not Thou himself. 2RP 1075-76. A pair of gray sweatpants were found in a bedroom closet. 2RP 1153-55, 1261-63, 1271; 3RP 108-09. Surveillance video showed Thou leaving the house on April 27 wearing a blue sweatshirt and black stocking cap. 2RP 1541-42.

Thou, meanwhile, contacted Thompson and told him the police were at his house. 2RP 1962-63, 2011-12. Thompson, unaware that police had already found the car, told Thou to get rid of it. 2RP 1963, 2013-14. Thou also sent Thompson news reports about the robbery. 2RP 1958. Thompson knew Thou wanted to leave the area but not whether he planned to speak with police. 2RP 1963, 2013-14.

Thompson's girlfriend, Brianna Bennett, believed Thompson was scared Thou was going to talk with police. 4RP 403-04, 411-12, 415, 418, 426, 431, 466. Thompson told Bennett he and Thou drove to the store in Thou's car. 4RP 412. Thompson explained he was already back in the car when Thou shot Soon Ja. 4RP 411-13, 434. Thompson spoke with Bennett about the possibility that Thou would be killed. 2RP 1963-64; 4RP 425-27. Thompson however, never told Bennett he was going to kill Thou. 2RP 1965, 2077; 4RP 427-28.

Thompson left Bennett's house on the evening of April 28. 2RP 1966. He and Thou were picked up and sat in the back

passenger seats as they were driven to Chinook Landing Marina. 2RP 1966-68, 2087. Thompson and Thou smoked on the beach before walking back toward the car. 2RP 1969-70, 2015. Thou was behind Thompson when he was shot. Thompson did not shoot Thou. 2RP 1970, 2015-16, 2018-19, 2075.

Thompson later told Bennett about what happened when Thou was killed. 2RP 1977-78, 2081, 2086. Thompson omitted the names of other people present at the marina. 2RP 1978, 2086; 4RP 440, 444, 451-52, 472. Thompson told Bennet he shot Thou in the back of the head. 4RP 425-27, 439-41, 444, 447-48, 474. Thompson, however, denied telling Bennett he was going to kill Thou, or that he was the person who shot him. 2RP 1965, 1978, 2077-80, 2086.

Thou's body was found the next day. 2RP 1080-81, 1159-61, 1240; 4RP 319-23. Thou's body was missing shoes. 2RP 1620. A bullet wound in the back of Thou's head was the cause of death. 2RP 1164, 1171-72, 1178-79, 1318-20, 1323,

1328-29, 1341, 1351. No evidence was found at the scene 2RP 1171-72, 1179-80, 1202-09, 1213-14, 1218-23, 1226-27, 1242; 4RP 504-05, 508-09.

Police identified Thou and Thompson in the Snapchat video. 2RP 807-08, 829-35, 840-42, 1535-40, 1581, 1583-84; 4RP 322-24. Thompson was arrested while on his way to school on May 1. 2RP 1082-83, 1354-60, 1365-66. Police seized a backpack, cellphone, blue sweatshirt, and \$217 from Thompson during the arrest. 2RP 1372-72, 1391-92, 1399-1400; 4RP 200-06, 209-10, 212. Thompson was interviewed by police and acknowledged the Snapchat video depicted him. 2RP 1388-89; 4RP 328, 515-17.

Thompson's cellphone contained videos depicting Glock and Taurus .380 pistols. 2RP 1499-1500, 1515-16, 1531. Messages exchanged between the phone and Bennett on April 27 indicated he was going to Puyallup and included a request for guns for his birthday. 2RP 1533-35, 1549. The phone did not transmit any data between 4:02 p.m. and 5:22 p.m. on April

27, suggesting it was turned off. 2RP 1552-55, 1561-62. A text exchange from the phone at 6:07 p.m. stated the "craziest shit just happened" but that "can't text it." 2RP 1566. A text exchange with Bennett at 6:21 p.m. indicated a desire to speak in person rather than over the phone "because it's some real shit." 2RP 1567. A search from the phone for a Puyallup shooting and corresponding news articles was made around 10:30 p.m. 2RP 1570-74, 1593. Screenshots were also taken of a Crime Stoppers bulletin and an article that referenced the shooting suspects and car descriptions. 2RP 1574-75, 1577. The phone was used to search for pistol magazines and ammo on the Dicks Sporting Goods website. 2RP 1571-73, 1983.

Police also searched Bennett's phone. 2RP 1520-21. A text from Bennett's phone to Thompson's phone on April 28 said, "don't do anything stupid." Thompson's phone responded, "Bro, I love you. Real shit. You just gotta look at it from my side." 2RP 1600-02; 4RP 425-29, 469-70.

A search from Thompson's phone on April 28 inquired "where is the best place to shoot someone?" 2RP 1603. The phone did not transmit any data for about two hours beginning shortly before 10:00 p.m. 2RP 1604-05. The next day a search was made from the phone, "teen deed, Federal Way" 2RP 1609. The next morning Bennett messaged Thompson's phone asking how he did it. Thompson's phone responded, "did what" before telling Bennett to keep what he told her to herself. 2RP 1613-16.

Thompson's phone contained a video depicting shoes similar to those worn by Thou that was made around 10:40 p.m. on April 30. 2RP 1610-12, 1617. That same day Thompson's phone received a Snapchat message, stating "talking about it class, everyone ha ha, but we good. No one give a fuck about him I guess. And no one snitchi'n. How much kush would you trade from the .380?" 2RP 1619.

A search of Thompson's room revealed several pairs of athletic shoes and black sweatshirts and sweatpants. 4RP 233-

34, 237-40, 243, 264, 267, 282-84. A Glock .357 was found underneath clothing on a bedroom shelf. 2RP 2058-60, 2072, 2082, 2086; 4RP 245-51, 261, 272-73, 346-48. A magazine, holster, and laser sight were also found. 4RP 245, 250, 252-54, 262-64.

The gun magazine found in the store fit a .357 Glock 32 model pistol. 2RP 1740-44, 1772, 1981-82. The fatal bullets were both fired from the same .380 auto caliber but could not have been fired from a .357. 2RP 1748, 1754-56, 1763, 1771-72. No .380 pistol was submitted for testing. 2RP 1762.

Thompson acknowledged having both the Glock .357 and Taurus .380 in his possession at one point. 2RP 1983-85, 2059-60, 2062-63, 2067. He also attempted to sell both guns before the robbery. 2RP 2072. While he owned the Glock, the .380 belonged to Thou. 2RP 2058-59, 2071-72, 2082, 2086. He acknowledged messaging someone about selling the .380 for \$245 or marijuana. 2RP 2028-29, 2068-71.

Thompson acknowledged turning his phone off around 4:00 p.m. on April 27. 2RP 2005-06. He denied however, using his phone to search for a good place to shoot someone. 2RP 1964, 2007, 2014. As he explained, the phone was charging in the front of the car in which he was a backseat passenger, and therefore accessible by other people. 2RP 1964-65, 2007-09, 2074.

Thompson was uncertain what happened to Thou's phone, glasses, and backpack after his death. 2RP 1992, 2073-74, 2083-84, 2087. Thompson took Thou's shoes and made a video about them as an advertisement for a potential buyer. 2RP 1971-74, 2022-26, 2085.

Thompson was charged and convicted of eight felony counts, including conspiracy to commit first degree robbery, first degree robbery, second degree unlawful possession of a firearm, and two counts of second degree assault against Nam and Mantonya. CP 40-45, 114-21; 2RP 2220-23. Thompson was also charged and convicted of two counts of premeditated

first degree murder for the deaths of Soon Ja and Thou.

Thompson was also charged with first degree murder,

predicated on first degree robbery for the death of Soon Ja. <u>Id.</u>

The state further alleged aggravating circumstances for both premeditated first degree murder counts, including that Soon Ja and Thou were killed to conceal the commission of a crime or to protect the identity of the person committing a crime and that the victims were prospective witnesses in an adjudicative proceeding. CP 40-45. The jury returned special verdicts, concluding Thompson was armed with a firearm during commission of seven of the offenses and guilty of each alleged premeditated murder aggravating factors. CP 122-31.

Thompson raised several arguments on appeal, including those below. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Thompson now seeks review.

D. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> ACCEPTED

1. Review is warranted to clarify the proper standard of review when an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of a peremptory challenge.

Those charged with a crime are guaranteed trial by a fair and impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wash Const. art. 1, § 22. In addition to the parties, "the jurors themselves have the right to a trial process free from discrimination." State v. Lahman, 17 Wn. App. 2d 925, 932, 488 P.3d 881 (2021) (citing Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 409, 111 S. Ct. 1364, 113 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1991)). Peremptory challenges may not be used to thwart this right. Id. at 932-933 (citing Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986)).

To "eliminate unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race or ethnicity," this Court adopted GR 37. GR 37(a); State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 242, 429 P.3d 467 (2018). Under GR 37(c) "A party may object to the use of a peremptory challenge to raise the issue of improper bias." "Upon objection

... the party exercising the peremptory challenge shall articulate the reasons that the peremptory challenge has been exercised."

GR 37(d). The court then evaluates those reasons considering the totality of circumstances. GR 37(e). "If the court determines that an objective observer *could* view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge, then the peremptory challenge shall be denied." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). "For purposes of this rule, an objective observer is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have resulted in the unfair exclusion of potential jurors in Washington State." GR 37(f).

GR 37 lists five non-exclusive circumstances for assessing an objection, seven presumptively invalid reasons historically associated with improper discrimination, (e.g., distrust in law enforcement, close relationship with someone that has been stopped, arrested, or convicted of a crime), and several types of conduct also historically associated with

attempts to justify discrimination (*e.g.* inattentiveness, lack of eye contact). GR 37(g)-(i).

Here, the prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge to Juror 35 over Thompson's objection. The prosecutor first questioned Juror 35 about memory:

MS. LUND: If you hear different witnesses talk about the same or similar events, particularly in this case several years later, would you find it surprising if their testimony was slightly different or different from other witnesses, or maybe even different slightly from what they may have said earlier? Would that surprise you?

JUROR NO. 35: Yeah, kind of.

MS. LUND: Okay. If I might just continue to kind of ask you some questions. If you were asked about something that happened two plus years ago, do you feel like you would feel just as comfortable now being able to ask you to completely and accurately talk about it and give the details as you would have two years ago?

JUROR NO. 35: Yes.

MS. LUND: Can you think of other individuals that might have a challenge being able to remember precisely the same events two years later?

JUROR NO. 35: No.

2RP 600-01. Other jurors were asked similar questions. Several responded that memory was unpredictable and could be

influenced by various factors. 2RP 601-04. The prosecutor returned to questioning Juror 35 about perspectives, using cars as an example. Juror 35 liked Subarus and disliked Volkswagens but maintained she could describe each type with the same level of detail. 2RP 605-07. Juror 43 was asked a similar question and confirmed they could distinguish among different generations of Corvettes. 2RP 609. Juror 43 acknowledged others who lacked a similar interest in cars might not be able to distinguish such details. 2RP 610.

When questioned by defense counsel, Juror 35 denied the specific charges would cause her any difficulty or emotional reaction. 2RP 622. Despite her questionnaire answer that she rarely changed her mind, Juror 35 confirmed that in deliberations she would "go with what I know, and the evidence that I have heard" instead of the opinions of others. She confirmed she would be able to change her opinion. 2RP 666-68.

Defense counsel lodged a GR 37 objection to the prosecutor's peremptory challenge against Juror 35, a person of color. 2RP 690, 693-94. The prosecutor expressed concerns about the effect of Juror 35's youth on her perception of time, explaining her inability to "appreciate the difference between why someone's memory may be different two years later, how someone may perceive something, whether that there would be any difference as to how one person would perceive something differently than another, depending on the background, depending on their prior experience, or any particular unique interest or expertise they may have." 2RP 691-93.

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