FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/21/2024 12:07 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103227-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBBRIE PURDELL THOMPSON,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Erica Eggertsen Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 40447 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-6625

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That No Objective Observer Could View Race as a Factor in the State's Excusal of a Juror Who Doubted the Passage of Time Would Affect Witness Memory

The court of appeals correctly rejected Thompson's GR 37 challenge. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *10-11. The opinion does not conflict with this Court's precedent, a published decision of the court of appeals, or present a significant question of constitutional law warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

This Court's precedent was correctly applied to the trial court's denial of Thompson's GR 37 challenge. GR 37 prohibits "the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race or ethnicity." GR 37(a); *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 242-43, 429 P.3d 467 (2018). Under GR 37, the court must consider whether an objective observer "could view" race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of a peremptory challenge. *State v. Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d 345, 357, 518 P.3d 193 (2022); GR 37(e). An objective observer "is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination,

have resulted in the unfair exclusion of potential jurors in Washington State." GR 37(f).

The *Tesfasilasye* decision established that de novo review applies to GR 37 challenges in the absence of factual findings or trial court assessments regarding credibility. *Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 356. Accordingly, the court of appeals correctly applied de novo review to Thompson's GR 37 claim. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *9. Such review renders moot any issue regarding the trial court's misstatement of the GR 37 standard as "would" rather than "could." *Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 350; *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *11. Application of de novo review showed an objective observer could not view race or ethnicity as a factor in the State's challenge. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *10.

The appellate court accurately observed that Juror 35's answers about memory and perception differed from all other jurors. *Id.* at *11. These answers directly implicated the State's main goal during jury selection, selecting jurors who could fairly

evaluate witness testimony. Id. "Juror 35 repeatedly expressed a belief that two years—the same gap between charged events and the trial—would not degrade her memory of events, and she did not think that witnesses should have a problem remembering events from two years before." Id. In contrast, "all other jurors ... were aware that memory and perception can differ among individuals and with the passage of time." Id. Fair evaluation of witness testimony is a race-neutral concern, and the State struck the only juror who expressed specific, unusual views. *Id.* Those views implicated her ability to fairly evaluate the testimony of witnesses with different backgrounds or whose memories were affected by the passage of time. The appellate court did not err in affirming the trial court's ruling.

Thompson wrongly attempts to portray the State's challenge and the trial court's analysis as implicating GR 37(h)'s presumptively invalid bases for juror excusal. Petition at 23. But neither the State nor the court concluded that Juror 35's answers were "unintelligent" or "confused." 6RP 691-95. As the appellate

court rightly noted, "juror 35's answers were not unintelligent or confused;" rather, it was her clearly expressed, specific beliefs that were at issue. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *11.

Nor does Thompson show that Juror 35's youth was the primary basis for the State's challenge or a proxy for discrimination. Petition at 22. The State and the court referenced Juror 35's youth as a possible explanatory factor for her unusual beliefs about time and memory. 6RP 691-95. The actual issue was the substance of her unusual beliefs. *Id.* Similarly, Thompson's focus on Juror 35's responses to unrelated questions about cars or inquiries in the juror questionnaire is misplaced. Petition at 21. The basis of the State's challenge and the court's ruling was her unusual beliefs about time and memory, not her answers to unrelated topics. 6RP 691-95.

Thompson contends the court of appeals' discussion of the applicable standards of review conflicts with *Tesfasilasye*. Petition at 24. It does not. The appellate court discussed how *Tesfasilasye* left open possible "further refinement of the

standard of review" to include deference to factual findings, in "a case that squarely presents the question based on a well-developed record." *Id.* (quoting *Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 356). The court of appeals observed that an abuse of discretion analysis could actually aid in detecting bias. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *9-10. This discussion did not contradict *Tesfasilasye*. *Id.* Neither did the court of appeals' conclusion that under either de novo or abuse of discretion, the trial court correctly denied Thompson's GR 37 challenge. *Id.*

Thompson asserts that review should be accepted to clarify or refine the GR 37 standard of review. Petition at 18. But his case does not "squarely present[] the question" of whether a more deferential standard is sometimes appropriate. *See Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 356. The excusal of Juror 35 did not hinge on the trial court's assessment of her "demeanor, body language, voice inflections, [or] other nuances." *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *9. A decision on whether courts should apply

abuse of discretion to review factual findings more appropriately takes place in a case where such findings occurred.

Thompson also wrongly contends the decision conflicts with *State v. Lahman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 925, 488 P.3d 881 (2021). The prosecutor in *Lahman* challenged a 23-year-old juror with an Asian surname because he was young and lacked experience with domestic violence. *Lahman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 928. The juror was not questioned about domestic violence. *Id.* Other jurors who lacked similar experience were seated on the jury. *Id.* at 928, 936. In this context, the State's focus on the jurors' youth and "lack of life experiences," "left open the possibility that the prosecution ... relied on a stereotype," specifically, that Asian individuals focus on academics to the detriment of interpersonal skills. *Id.* at 937.

The court of appeals correctly determined that *Lahman* is inapposite. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *11. In contrast to *Lahman*, Juror 35 was questioned about the basis for the State's challenge and her answers were completely unique among

potential jurors. *Id*. The State's specific concern arose from the content of her answers, not vague assertions about her age or life experiences. *Id*. Thus, unlike in *Lahman*, age was not potentially a proxy for another, discriminatory basis for removal. *Id*.

The court of appeals' analysis of Thompson's GR 37 challenge involved a straightforward application of this Court's precedent to the facts. Thompson fails to show a basis for review.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Fleeting Testimony about Thompson's Arrest Did Not Affect the Outcome of Trial

The court of appeals correctly determined that Thompson failed to show prejudicial deficient performance regarding counsel's decisions to refrain from objection and decline a limiting instruction. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *12-13. The correct legal standard was applied to the facts in determining there was no reasonable probability the arrest evidence undermined confidence in the verdict. Thompson does not show a significant question of constitutional law warranting review.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show: (1) that counsel's representation was deficient; and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). The court of appeals denied Thompson's ineffective assistance claim based on lack of prejudice without determining whether counsel performed deficiently. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *12.

Thompson wrongly contends the court erred in its analysis of prejudice by "fail[ing] to appreciate" that lacking confidence in the outcome establishes prejudice. Petition at 30. Prejudice exists when there is a "reasonable probability" that but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome would have been different. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). The court of appeals applied this standard, correctly recognizing that "a reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Thompson*,

2024 WL 2830591 at *12 (quoting *In re Pers. Restraint of Yates*, 177 Wn.2d 1, 36, 296 P.3d 872 (2013)). No legal error occurred.

Thompson essentially argues that the appellate court's application of the correct rule to the facts resulted in the wrong conclusion. Contrary to Thompson's contention, the opinion shows the court conducted a careful analysis. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *12. The court recognized the potential prejudicial effect of the arrest evidence. *Id.* It agreed with Thompson that the evidence was "irrelevant and unnecessarily emphasized Thompson's perceived dangerousness." *Id.* The court, however, weighed this "comparatively fleeting" testimony with the "overwhelming evidence that Thompson committed the murders, robbery, and assaults." *Id.*

The court of appeals accurately concluded that the evidence of Thompson's guilt was "overwhelming." *Id*. Thompson acknowledged in closing argument that he was guilty of felony murder, robbery, and unlawful possession of a firearm. *Id*. There was ample evidence he personally shot both Soon Ja

and Thuo based on Mantonya's observations, Thompson's statements and confession to Bennet, and Thompson's control of the murder weapon. *Id.* The court's conclusion that the brief and unrepeated information about the arrest was not sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome was supported by its careful analysis of the full factual picture of the case.

Thompson erroneously characterizes the fleeting information about his arrest evidence as propensity evidence. Petition at 30-31. Propensity evidence is that which "prove[s] the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." ER 404(b). In Thompson's case, there was no evidence that could be used for propensity. Jurors learned that in general, a "threat matrix" briefing can include criminal history. 11RP 1361-64. The witness who attended the briefing in Thompson's case testified that he did not know if Thompson had any prior history, strongly suggesting there was none. *Id.* This witness also said that the decision to use a SWAT team for the arrest was based on Thompson's "suspected crimes." Id.

Thompson's contention the jurors must have used the absence of information about past criminal history to conclude he was a violent criminal is unsupported.

Furthermore, any prejudice associated with the details of Thompson's arrest was mitigated by the nature of the case. The jury was aware that Thompson's suspected crimes included two firearm-facilitated murders in less than 48 hours, assault, and robbery. That police used protective measures during the arrest did not suggest that Thompson's personal characteristics or history factored into police decision making. Rather, jurors would reasonably infer such arrests occur any time a person is suspected of recently executing two people with a firearm.

The court of appeals correctly determined that Thompson was not prejudiced by counsel's lack of objection or decision to decline a limiting instruction with respect to evidence of Thompson's arrest. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *12. The fleeting evidence about Thompson's arrest within the entire context of the case did not "undermine confidence in the

outcome." Yates, 177 Wn.2d at 36. Application of the correct rule to the facts of Thompson's case does not present a significant question of constitutional law warranting review.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that Thompson's Right to Present a Defense was Not Violated by Exclusion of Speculative Other Suspect Evidence

The court of appeals correctly found that exclusion of speculative other suspect evidence did not violate Thompson's right to present a defense. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *13-14. Thompson does not establish a significant question of constitutional law warranting review.

The fundamental due process right to present a defense includes the right to offer testimony, compel the presence of witnesses, and cross-examine. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). It does not provide "an unfettered right to offer testimony that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under standard rules of evidence." *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924-25, 913 P.2d 808 (1996).

This Court has held that other suspect evidence is admissible when it establishes a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt. *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 381, 325 P.3d 159 (2014). There must be "some combination of facts or circumstances [] point[ing] to a nonspeculative link between the other suspect and the charged crime." *Id.* In contrast, "[o]ther suspect evidence that establishes only [] suspicion is inadmissible." *Id.* at 380. Such evidence is properly excluded as lacking relevance. *Id.* at 378-79. A ruling excluding other suspect evidence is evidentiary and reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 377 n. 2.

The other suspect evidence Thompson sought to admit created only suspicion that another person could be responsible for Thuo's murder. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *14. The excluded electronic data showed that a phone associated with "Shawn Kelley" was at some point near the marina where Thuo's body was discovered. 13RP 1656-61; *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *14. The jury heard evidence from Bennet and

Thompson that unnamed other individuals were present when Thuo was killed. (9/21/21) RP 440; 15RP 1970. Thompson told the jury someone else shot Thuo; he told the court he knew who Thuo's killer was but would not provide the name. 16RP 2048-49, 2056. Viewed in context, the excluded vague data point does not create a reasonable doubt as to Thompson's guilt. *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 381.

Completely absent was any information establishing Thompson's relationship with Kelley, that Kelley was present when Thuo was killed, or that Kelley had the opportunity, motive, or means to kill Thuo. "Evidence establishing nothing more than suspicion that another person might have committed the crime [is] inadmissible." *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 381. The appellate correctly found that Thompson failed to establish a nonspeculative link between the phone data, another person, and Thuo's murder. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *14. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the evidence, and

the presentation of Thompson's defense, that another person killed Thuo, was not compromised.

Thompson wrongly asserts that his case is analogous to *State v. Ortuno-Perez*, 196 Wn. App. 771, 385 P.3d 218 (2016). Petition at 36. The State charged Ortuno-Perez with murder based on a deadly shooting. *Ortuno-Perez*, 196 Wn. App. at 774. Ortuno-Perez claimed that a named person at the murder scene, who was similarly armed and had a motive to shoot the victim, was the perpetrator. *Id.* at 775-76, 785. The trial court excluded the evidence. *Id.* The appellate court reversed, finding the circumstantial evidence established a "logical connection" between another suspect and the crime. *Id.* at 790.

No similar circumstantial evidence created a "logical connection" between unanchored phone data and Thuo's murder. Unlike in *Ortuno-Perez*, Thompson did not name the other suspect. There was no evidence showing that Kelley was present when Thuo was killed. No evidence showed any reason why

Kelley might be involved. No evidence showed motive or that Kelley was armed.

A detective's vague statement outside the presence of the jury that police thought "Dinylo" and "Shawn" "may have been involved," did not establish anything more than suspicion. 12RP 1429. Bennet's testimony that she thought "Jeremiah" and "Mikey" might have been with Thompson was similarly speculative. 3RP 440. None of this evidence created anything more than suspicion that Kelley was involved in the crime.

The court of appeals correctly applied this Court's precedent in determining the phone data was properly excluded in the trial court's discretion. *Thompson*, 2024 WL 2830591 at *14. Thompson's right to present a defense did not include the right to present inadmissible evidence. *Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d at 924-25. The exclusion did not affect Thompson's ability to present the defense that he was not Thuo's killer. Thompson does not establish a basis for review.

D. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That the State's Comments About How the Crimes Connected People from Different Walks of Life Was Not an Improper Appeal to Racial Bias or Sympathies

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